#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

AMOS EARL ROBINSON,

ISON,

Appellant,

vs. :

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 65,506

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 6 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Chief, Capital Appeals

Hall of Justice Building 455 N. Broadway Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830 (813)533-1184 or 533-0931

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 17, 1983, a Pinellas County grand jury indicted Amos Earl Robinson for the first degree murder of Carlos Alberto Orellana. (R49) The State, on November 29, 1983, filed an information charging Robinson with a robbery and kidnapping arising from the same episode. (R31) Upon the State's motion (R633,645), the court consolidated the cases for trial. (R646) Robinson proceeded to trial, and the jury found him guilty of each of the three charges on April 19, 1984. (R41,42,565,1357-1358) After hearing additional evidence at the penalty phase of the trial held on May 7, 1984, the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder. (R588,1658-1661)

Circuit Judge Fred L. Bryson adjudged Robinson guilty of all three charges on June 22, 1984. (R43-46, 614-616,1677-1689) On the same day, he sentenced Robinson to 15 years for robbery, 15 years for kidnapping and death for the murder. (R43-46,614-616, 617-625,1688-1689)

In support of the death sentence, Judge Bryson filed written findings as to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances.  $(R617-625)(A1-9)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  The court found five aggravating circumstances: (1) that Robinson had been previously convicted of a felony involving violence—a robbery and a sexual battery (R617)(A1); (2) that the homicide was committed during a kidnapping (R618)(A2); (3) that the homicide was committed to avoid arrest (R619)(A3);

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  References to the appendix to this brief are designated with the prefix "A."

(4) that the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain (R620)(A4);

(5) that the homicide was heinous, atrocious or cruel (R620-622) (A4-6); and (6) that the homicide was cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R622-623)(A6-7) The court rejected all the defense evidence presented in mitigation (R1391-1535) and found no mitigating circumstances. (R624-625)(A8-9)

Robinson timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (R755)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Carlos Orellana lived in Tampa in the same house with his mother, his sister and his sister's husband and children. (R1041-1042) On Friday, October 21, 1983, Orellana was last seen at home between 9:30 p.m. and 10:00 p.m. (R1056-1057) He was taking a shower and preparing to leave for the evening. (R1048-1049,1044) Although Orellana occasionally stayed out all night, his sister, Maritsa Phillips, testified that he always told her before he did so and that he never stayed out all night on Fridays because he worked part-time at a Sears store on Saturdays. (R1042-1044,1054-1055) Orellana visited a bar called the Old Plantation, and the assistant manager saw him leave between 11:30 p.m. and midnight. (R1059-1061) Orellana did not return home or work on Saturday. (R1050-1051) Around midnight on Saturday, Maritsa Phillips reported her brother missing. (R1051-1052)

At approximately 8:00 p.m. on Saturday, Duneden Police Officer Robert Gualtieri stopped a light colored Toyota for a traffic violation. (R1069-1070) Before Gualtieri approached the vehicle, the driver sped the car away. (R1070) A chase ensued. (R1070) The Toyota ran over a stop sign, was involved in an accident and stopped in front of a house. (R1070) The four black males who occupied the automobile fled on foot. (R1070) Officer Gualtieri detained one of them, Larry Tillman. (R1071-1072) Later, Maritsa Phillips identified the Toyota as her brother's car. (R1051) There were some blood stains on the rear seat and floor of the car which matched Orellana's blood, type B. (R1052,1098-1115)

Larry Tillman identified the other occupants of the car as Amos Robinson, Abron Scott and Isaiah Martin. (R1086-1087) He testified that he was visiting at Martin's house on Saturday morning, October 23, 1983. (R1085-1086) Scott and Robinson drove up in a beige, 1980 Toyota and asked Martin and Tillman to go for a ride with them. (R1087) Martin and Tillman entered the car and the four men drove to a small road near some railroad tracks. (R1087) At that location, Scott and Robinson threw out the documents and other items contained in the glove compartment of the car. (R1087-1088) These items belonged to Orellana and consisted of a blue bank bag, credit cards, a driver's license and other documents. (R1046-1048,1064-1065,1074-1077) A resident who lived near the railroad found the items the following day and telephoned the police. (R1062-1069) At the time Scott and Robinson were throwing the items from the car, one of the other two men asked about the source of the items. (R1088) According to Tillman, Robinson replied that the material had come from a "hit" he and Scott had made the previous night. (R1088) Tillman understood "hit" to mean a robbery. (R1089-1092) Robinson did not say that he had hurt anyone. (R1095-1096) Shortly after the items were thrown out of the car, the chase involving Officer Gualtieri occurred, and Tillman was apprehended. (R1093-1095)

Leroy McDuffy, an employee with Overstreet Paving Company, was working on Gim Gong Road in Pinellas county on Wednesday, October 26, 1983. (R995-996) The road was dirt with loose sand. (R997) Near the end of the road, McDuffy found an automobile jack and a hammer. (R997) He observed three tire

marks in the sand at the same location which appeared to be the result of a car having been stuck in the sand. (R997) Another member of the paving crew found a pair of shoes nearby. (R998) Later, while operating a piece of equipment used to clear mud from the roadway, McDuffy discovered a body resting in a depression in an area of palmetto woods approximately 40 feet from the road. (R998-999) The body was subsequently identified as Carlos Orellana. (R1135)

Deputy Timothy Goodman arrived on the scene around 3:30 p.m. (R1008-1009) He secured the area and called for a homicide detective and crime scene technicians. (R1010) He also instructed McDuffy and his co-worker to replace the jack, hammer and shoes they had removed from the road. (R1011) The technicians recovered those items (R1015-1022) along with two beer cans (R1022-1024) and a matchbook. (R1024)

Associate Medical Examiner Edward Cocoran viewed the body at the scene before removing it for an autopsy. (R1129-1131) He found it on its back in the depression in the ground, the back was up one side of the depression and the legs were up the other. (R1130) Arms were flexed with the right arm underneath the body. (R1130,1152) The body was fully clothed except for shoes (R1130-1131), but no items of value were present. (R1192) Due to decomposition, much of the soft tissue was absent. (R1131) However, Cocoran found no evidence of injuries or trauma of any kind. (R1130-1135) A complete autopsy also failed to reveal any injuries. (R1133-1135) Cocoran could not ascertain a cause of death; he could not exclude death from natural causes. (R1135, 1154-1159)

Over defense counsel's objections (R1136-1151), the medical examiner was allowed to testify that in his opinion the manner of death was homicide by asphyxiation. (R1152-1153) He reached that opinion even though he could not eliminate death by natural causes. (R1154-1160) Cocoran reasoned that the location of the body and the detective's report to him that the victim had been abducted was sufficient to establish homicide as a manner of death. (R1159-1160) Defense counsel objected to the use of the information about an abduction as a basis for the opinion because the source of the information was Robinson's confession which could not be used until the corpus delicti for a homicide was established through independent evidence. (R1136,1145-1151)

Robinson and Scott were arrested on October 26, 1983, at Robinson's mother's home in Jackson County. (R1116-1127) Detective John Halliday of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office flew to Jackson County, interviewed Robinson and obtained a confession. (R1179-1212) Halliday first interviewed Robinson without a tape recording, and then, tape recorded the statement. (R1198) The tape recording, a transcript of the recording and Halliday's testimony about the contents of Robinson's unrecorded statements were introduced into evidence. (R670,1198-1215) Robinson objected to the introduction of the confession on the ground that a corpus delicti had not been proven. (R1165-1175) And, he also objected to the introduction of the transcript of the taped statement. (R670,1210-1218)

Halliday testified that Robinson first said that he and Scott found the car. (R1239) The detectives then confronted him

with the information they had about the case. (R1239) Robinson began to cry and said that he did not want to go to prison. (R1206-1201,1239-1240) Robinson then related his involvement. (R670,1201,1238) His statement was the only evidence of the events surrounding the homicide.

Robinson stated that he and Abron Scott decided to rob someone. (R1201,1219-1221,1232) While walking down Kennedy Boulevard in Tampa, they saw a man approaching his car in the parking lot of the Old Plantation bar. (R1201-1202,1219-1220,1232) Scott knocked the man to the ground, beat and choked him. Robinson hit the man two or three times. (R1202,1219-1222) The man appeared to be unconscious and was bleeding from his mouth. (R1202, 1219-1222) They placed the man in the back seat of his car, and Scott drove the vehicle through Tampa into Pinellas County to the city of Oldsmar. (R1202,1221-1222) There, they proceeded down a dirt road where they stopped and pulled the man from the car. (R1202-1203,1223) He now appeared to be conscious, and he and Scott began fighting. (R1203,1223-1224) Robinson moved to the driver's position in the car and attempted to run over the man with the car. (R1203,1223-1224) He stopped because he was afraid that he would also hit Scott. (R1203,1224) Scott choked the man until he was on his knees and too weak to move. (R1203,1224) The man told them to take the car but not to hurt him. (R1204-1206, 1235) Scott said, "We ain't leaving this mother fucker alive." (R1206) Scott entered the car and drove it over the man. (R1203, 1225-1226) The car became stuck in the sand on the shoulder of the roadway resting on top of the man. (R1203,1206,1225-1226) He

was buried into the sand with the undercarriage of the automobile on top of him. (R1206,1226)

Scott and Robinson were unable to free the car from the sand. (R1207,1226-1227) They could not drive the car out of the sand and attempts to jack the car up were unsuccessful. (R1207, The two men walked down the road until they reached the Maverick bar. (R1208,1227) There, they enlisted the help of two men and their pick-up trucks. (R1208,1227-1228) These two men attached a chain to the Toyota and pulled it from the sand with their truck. (R1203,1227-1228) Because it was nighttime and because Scott stood in a position in front of the Toyota, the men assisting in freeing the car never saw the man who had been run over. (R1208,1228) The men gave Robinson and Scott a beer and left the area. (R1208-1209,1228-1229) Robinson said that he was already high on alcohol and cocaine. (R1234-1235) After drinking the beer, Robinson and Scott removed the body from the shoulder of the road and placed it in depression in a wooded area. (R1209-1210,1229-1231)

After Robinson's confession was admitted, Associate Medical Examiner Edward Cocoran testified. (R1265-1272) He stated that the events described in Robinson's statements were consistent with asphyxiation as a cause of death of the victim. (R1265) The asphyxiation would have been caused by chest compression. (R1265) Unconsciousness would have occurred for the victim in less than one minute. (R1267-1268) Death would have occurred within a few minutes. (R1267-1268)

During jury selection, the trial court excused several prospective jurors for cause because of their beliefs against

capital punishment. (R905-906,967) Two of those jurors, Arthur Saulino and Helen Fiero, were excused even though they did not make it unmistakably clear that their beliefs would prevent them from considering death as a possible penalty. (R789-790,814,856-860,883,885-887,900,903,905-906) Robinson objected to their excusal for cause. (R905-906)

The State and Robinson presented additional evidence during the penalty phase of the trial. (R1385-1581) In aggravation, the State introduced certified copies of judgments against Robinson for robbery and sexual battery. (R1388-1390) Robinson introduced testimony from several witnesses in mitigation, including a detective who assisted in taking Robinson's confession (R1391-1399); a clinical psychologist who had examined and tested Robinson (R1402-1467); Robinson's mother (R1469-1483); his father (R1486-1500); his aunt (R1500-1513); and his employer. (R1513-1535) In rebuttal, the State presented testimony of a detective (R1568-1580) and a psychologist who had examined Robinson's co-defendant, Abron Scott. (R1553-1568)

Dr. Sidney Merin, a clinical psychologist, examined and tested Robinson. (R1405-1411) He found Robinson to have an IQ of 74, in the borderline retarded range. (R1418-1434) This level of intelligence translates to a mental age of 12 and the learning level of a 7th grader. (R1435) In addition to his low intelligence, Robinson's personality is poorly developed. (R1437) Merin concluded that Robinson's deprived background left him emotionally remote, unable to understand human emotions and without a meaningful relationship with society's value system. (R1437) His emotional

development is as if he was raised in isolation without role models. (R1440) Merin did find in Robinson the ability to learn these personality skills if exposed to them; Robinson showed remorse and appeared capable of learning conscience. (R1440-1441) Robinson is also a follower. (R1439) He is prone to follow someone of a stronger, more aggressive personality. (R1439) The person with a more aggressive personality need not be more intelligent than Robinson. (R1439-1442) Merin found that Robinson's ability to adapt to his environment is poor. (R1442) And, the adaptive ability to conform his conduct to the law would be impaired if Robinson was under the influence of a more dominate person. (R1442) Finally, Merin concluded that Robinson was easily mislead by others and that he personally lacked the thinking ability to mislead anyone. (R1442-1444)

Robinson's mother, Mary Robinson, testified about her son's background. (R1469-1483) Amos was the middle child of seven children growing up in Graceville in Jackson County. (R1469-1471,1476) His father, Willie Evert Robinson, left the family before Amos was born. (R1471) Amos would visit him in Tampa during the summers, and when he turned 14, he lived with his father permanently. (R1471-1472,1487-1489) As a child, he was easily led and influenced by other people. (R1476-1477) Amos went to school in Graceville, and he always had a job after school. (R1472-1473) The money he earned was contributed to the support of the family. (R1473-1474)

Willie Robinson testified that Amos was 14 years old when he moved to Tampa to live with him permanently. (R1489)

Amos went to school in Tampa for awhile but stopped and began working full time. (R1490) He worked at a service station and then at Morrison's Cafeteria which was his place of employment at the time of his arrest. (R1490-1491) Amos talked to his father about the homicide. (R1492) He told him that he did not kill the man but was present when Scott killed him. (R1492) Amos said that he did not want to hurt the man. (R1492)

Robinson's aunt, Ruby Speights, also testified. (R1500-1512) She is a nurse in Tampa. (R1501) Speights said she was fairly close to her nephew and that they had a good relationship. (R1502) She characterized him as easy going, good hearted and a hard worker. (R1502-1503) Furthermore, she described him as a passive, nonaggressive person--a follower. (R1503-1504)

Marla Dubinsky was the food service director at Morrison's Cafeteria and Robinson's employer. (R1514-1515) She described him as an excellent employee. (R1518-1520) In fact she said that he was the best employee at his level of employment she had. (R1520) He started work in the kitchen as a pot washer but he also worked with the catering and deliveries portion of the business. (R1516-1517) Dubinsky trusted Robinson completely to the point of allowing him to make bank deposits alone. (R1517-1519) Sometimes the bank deposits consisted of up to \$6,000 in cash. (R1518) She never had a problem of any kind with Robinson. (R1518-1519) He was a model employee who was always extra helpful to his co-workers. (R1519-1520)

Detective Bruce Hauck who participated in investigating this case testified for Robinson. (R1391-1398) He said that

Robinson was cooperative and gave a statement regarding his involvement. (R1392) Hauck testified that the statement appeared to be truthful and that other evidence in the case corroborates Robinson's statement that Scott drove the car over the victim. (R1393-1394) Furthermore, Robinson never indicated that he intended to kill someone that night. (R1394) Hauck was also of the opinion that Robinson expressed some remorse at the time he gave the statement. (R1393) He cried and said he did not want to go to prison. (R1393-1394) On rebuttal, the State presented testimony from Detective Halliday who said that in his opinion Robinson expressed no remorse. (R1568-1571)

Over defense counsel's relevancy objections (R1543-1552), the State presented testimony from the clinical psychologist who had examined Robinson's co-defendant, Abron Scott. (R1553-1567) Dr. Linda Appenfeldt stated that she was appointed to perform a confidential psychological evaluation on Abron Scott. (R1555-1556) She employed intelligence tests and analyzed his personality. (R1557-1556) Tests showed Scott's IQ to be 50 which is in the mentally retarded range. (R1557) Appenfeldt concluded that Scott has a nonassertive personality and is a follower. (R1558-1559) Furthermore, his is drug dependent and uses drugs on a continuous and habitual basis. (R1558-1559) Appenfeldt had not examined Robinson and could not answer which of the two was the more assertive or aggressive personality. (R1564)

At the close of the penalty phase evidence, Robinson requested jury instructions on several statutory mitigating circumstances. (R1595-1599) Among the instructions the court denied

were the following: (1) that Robinson was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R1595); (2) that Robinson was an accomplice in the crime committed by another and his participation was relatively minor (R1595-1596); and (3) that Robinson's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (R1596-1597)

#### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING ROBINSON'S CONFESSION INTO EVIDENCE, SINCE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE CORPUS DELICTI FOR A HOMICIDE BY INDEPENDENT EVIDENCE PRIOR TO THE ADMISSION OF THE CONFESSION.

It is well established that a defendant's confession cannot be admitted until the State has proven the corpus delicti by independent evidence. E.g., State v. Allen, 335 So.2d 823 (Fla.1976); Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla.1958). Circumstantial evidence can be sufficient. Ibid. And, while proof beyond a reasonable doubt is not required, the evidence must be substantial. Allen, 335 So.2d at 825-826. In a homicide case, there must be independent proof that the death occurred as the result of criminal agency in order to establish the corpus delicti. E.g., Schneider v. State, 152 So.2d 731 (Fla.1963) The State failed to prove this essential element in this case. Robinson's confession was improperly admitted into evidence, and this Court should reverse his conviction for a new trial.

The State sought to prove the criminal agency element of the corpus delicti via opinion testimony from the medical examiner. However, this attempt failed because the opinion itself was improperly based upon information from the confession. (R1152-1160) See, e.g., Hodges v. State, 176 So.2d 91,93 (Fla. 1965); Hester v. State, 310 So.2d 455,457 (Fla.2d DCA 1975). Dr. Cocoran found no evidence of injuries or trauma to the body. (R1130-1135) After reviewing the victim's medical records,

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