IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMOS EARI	Appellant,	FILTO
V.		SID J. V
STATE OF	FLORIDA,	CLERKS SUPREME CHAT
	Appellee.	Chief Deputy Clark

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. TAYLOR
Assistant Attorney General
Park Trammell Building
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

WT/ctc

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

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON SEVERAL STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

(As Stated by the Appellant).

The Appellant under this issue deals with three statutory mitigating factors:

- (1) that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence or extreme mental or emotional disturbance;
- (2) that the defendant was an accomplice in a capital felony committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor;
- (3) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired.

Number 2 above overlaps with Issue IV, the second part of paragraph F, and that praagraph will therefore be treated in its entirety under this issue.

The trial court included in its jury instructions the fact that the jury could consider as a statutory mitigating circumstance that the defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person. The question in regard to that portion of the issue then does not present this

Court with the question of the judge not having read the instruction. The record is clear, however, that there was no evidence shown that would indicate that he acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person. The jury heard the instruction and all of the relevant evidence yet, like the judge, were unpersuaded. This is a question of weight. See <u>Lucas</u>, supra, <u>Smith</u>, supra and <u>Hargrave</u>, supra.

As to the remaining statutory factors that were not read to the jury, we must first re-examine the relevant portions of the record which are located at 1595-1599 and 1657. The pages starting at 1595 show the charge conference and we may examine there what objections were properly made by defense counsel.

R. 1657 shows a skeletal renewal of all motions by defense counsel but, of course, the impact of that renewal has no effect if the original objections were not made or were inadequate.

At R. 1595, the Court states:

"The crime with which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance? We will not give that one."

This Court should note that at that point, where one would normally expect an objection and argument from the defense counsel

if he felt that the judge was committing error by not giving it, there was none. The Court then goes on to state:

"The victim was a participant or consentor. We will not give that."

At this point again, one would expect an objection if defense counsel felt that the Court's refusal to give this instruction was improper. There is no objection. The Court goes on to state:

"The defendant was an accomplice in the offense for which he is to be sentenced but the offense was committed by another person and the defendant's participation was relatively minor."

One would expect to find an objection at this point and indeed does. The trial counsel for the defendant voiced his objection stating that the confession showed that Mr. Scott committed the crime and that while the defendant was in the area, he was only standing there but did nothing to stop it. This argument upon which the defense counsel based his objection was without merit since that is not what the confession or any of the other evidence showed. The Appellant was an active participant in each and every phase, was the first one to attempt to drive over the victim and, in fact, it was his idea to kill the victim. (R. 1578). The Appellee will not argue with the

concept that a judge should not impose his thoughts on the jury or refuse to give mitigating circumstances upon which there is evidence, however, not only is there no evidence that the Appellant was a minor participant but the evidence clearly shows that he was a major participant. Not only was the judge not required to read this instruction but had he done so, it would have served no purpose other than to confuse the jury.

The Court goes on at R. 1596:

"The defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another."

At this point, trial counsel requested that instruction and the judge although apparently not convinced of the validity of that mitigating factor, agrees that "I think that you sufficiently opened the door to warrant getting that." (This proves the trial judge understood the correct standard).

The Court goes on to state:

"The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law is substantially impaired. I will not give that."

At this point, the defense counsel asked that the instruction be given "based on the testimony we heard today."

The judge then refused to give it and if we examine the basis of the defendant's argument supporting his objection and

review the testimony that was heard, it is clear that there was no evidence to support this mitigating factor. Additionally, if one reviews the record prior to the penalty phase at R. 1234 and 1573, we find reference to the fact that the defendant had used cocaine and alcohol that day, but there was no indication of a time frame or the quantity. At. R. 1234, it appears that he knew what he was doing and at R. 1573, when Detective Halliday is testifying, he states as follows:

- Q. Did you get into any discussions about the alcohol consumed and narcotics consumed?
- A. Yes, we did.
- Q. Okay.
- A. Mr. Robinson told us that Abron Scott was the one who had consumed the most alcohol and drugs. That he, himself, had not consumed that much, that he was totally aware of what was going on and knew what he was doing at the time.
- Q. Did he have an opinion as to Abron Scott's sobriety?
- A. He said Abron Scott had consumed some alcohol and they snorted some cocaine, but he said Abron Scott was driving the vehicle and he didn't appear to be out of control or not aware of what he was doing.

It would seem from all of the above that there was $\underline{\text{no}}$ evidence presented to show that the capacity of the defendant

to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. Again, we are faced with a situation where the trial court was not only correct in not reading that instruction but to do so would have been incorrect because it would have served no other purpose than to confuse the jury.

The Appellee herein will rely on Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d)D which states:

No party may assign as error grounds of appeal giving or failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection.

An examination of the charge instruction, line by line, shows either no objections or inadequate objections, or objections without valid grounds. The Court will not reverse when there has been improper preservation. See <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1982); <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982) and McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977).

The Florida Standard Jury Instructions advise the judge to present mitigating and aggravating factors to the jury if evidence has been presented. The Appellee believes that that note to the judge is correct and in no way contravenes the holdings

in Eddings v. Oklahoma, supra, Lockett v. Ohio, supra,

Songer v. State, supra or Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla.
1976). Those cases say that the judge may not restrict any
relevant evidence. The trial judge sub judice did not restrict
any relevant evidence nor did he preclude defense counsel from
arguing to the jury anything that they felt relevant to
mitigation. A review of the instructions given to the jury
further shows that they were formally instructed to consider
all evidence and everything in mitigation to which evidence
had been presented. R. 1653, 1654, 1655.

In summary, the judge's refusal to read mitigating factor (1) above regarding extreme mental or emotional disturbance was not objected to or argued, hence, it is not preserved for appeal. The judge's refusal to read mitigating factor (2) above regarding the Appellant's playing only a minor role was not supported by any evidence, since he was a major participant. The judge's refusal to read mitigating factor (3) above regarding the ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law is not supported by any evidence as the record shows to the contrary that he was fully aware of what he was doing.

In short, for all of the reasons cited above, the trial judge acted correctly and if this Honorable Court were to hold

otherwise, then trial judges in capital cases would be required, in an abundance of caution, to read all mitigating factors lest the defense attorney argue that in $\underline{\text{his}}$ eyes, there was evidence to support claims of error.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE, AS REBUTTAL EVIDENCE, THE TESTIMONY OF THE PSYCHOLOGIST WHO HAD TESTED AND EXAMINED ROBINSON'S CO-DEFENDANT, ABRON SCOTT.

(As Stated by the Appellant).

The Appellee herein will take exception to some of the factual statements upon which the Appellant relies for support of his argument under this issue since many of those facts are more in the nature of interpretations. Appellant, at page 45 of his brief, states that the introduction of Appenfeldt's testimony was not harmless since it invited the jury and the sentencing judge to draw comparisons between Robinson and Scott which were improper. An examination of page 44 of the Appellant's brief, however, shows that the Appellant admits that the defense had asserted to the jury that Robinson could have been dominated by his co-defendant Scott. question for the trial judge, then was, had the door been opened for the State to rebut the defense's assertion? They invited The Appellant cites only Carter v. State, 332 So.2d comparisons. 120 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976) but that case fails totally to be on point with the matter sub judice. In the Carter case, the trial court held that a rebuttal witness had been properly excluded because

her testimony would have only gone to the question of propensity and bad character. That case goes on to state that one cannot introduce evidence attacking character unless character has been put into issue. Those points, however, have no bearing on the case sub judice. Also, that case held that the testimony in rebuttal concerning the fact that the defendant had cheated on his wife was not proper when the question was not in dispute since the defendant had already admitted that in testimony. None of these determinations by the Court in the Carter case, however, even vaguely shed light on the question sub judice since the facts are totally different and the Appellant in his brief at page 44 admits that the only objection made to Appenfeldt's testimony on rebuttal was as to relevancy. R. 1552, 1553-1555. That objection was skeletal and appeared to have been a general objection to Dr. Appenfeldt's being able to testify at all. After that point, when the doctor's testimony began, it would have been the duty of defense counsel to make timely objections with specific argument and that argument would have to be the same as the one presented to this Court for appellate review. See Clark v. State, 336 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

The Appellant argues that IQ is immediate, but an examination of the record of that testimony shows that it was not objected to contemporaneously and ironically, that it was pursued in detail on cross-examination by the trial counsel for the defendant himself. R. 1418 et seq.

The proper test to be applied is whether or not the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the rebuttal testimony concerning the personality and IQ of Mr. Scott. The Bedrock case often referred to is Williamson v. State, 111 So. 124, 127 (Fla. 1926). That case at page 127 sets out the doctrine that gives Court discretion in the admission of rebuttal testimony and states that in the exercise of this discretion by the Court, it will only be reversible error if there is "manifest abuse" of the discretion. In the case of Kirkland v. State, 97 So. 502, 509 (Fla. 1923), the Court at page 509 states that it is permissible to allow rebuttal testimony or evidence to "discredit his [the defendant's] evidence". (Parenthesis added for clarification). In the case of Duncan v. State, 291 So.2d 241 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), the defendant introduced evidence to show it was unlikely that he would commit the crime because he was impotent. The Court found that rebuttal evidence to show that he was not impotent was permissible. In the case sub judice, the defendant at the penalty phase was attempting to convince

the jury that it was unlikely that he would be the leader and would be likely to follow Scott. The Appellee will argue that it was therefore clearly permissible and within the scope of the Court's discretion to allow testimony to show that it was not a valid assertion to show that the defendant was likely to be the follower in this case since Scott was also a follower.

This rationale squares with Williamson, supra and Kirkland, supra.

The Appellant makes assertions that IQ plays no part in whether a person could be domineering but an overview of the testimony does not appear to state that. Additionally, those facts only went to support the conclusion reached by Dr. Appenfeldt that Scott was drug dependent and a non-assertive personality. If the defense at trial could interject the fact that the defendant was a dependent person, easily led, and imply that Scott was the leader, then clearly, this opened the door for the State to bring in testimony, supported by facts, that Scott was also a dependent personality. While it is true that this might not be conclusive as to who led whom, to claim that it is not relevant is thin argument indeed.

The Appellant makes the statement at page 44 of his brief that dominance is not a function of IQ. He cites record pages R. 1439 and 1561. A review of those pages, however, shows

that this is a misstatement or misinterpretation of the testimony at that point. The testimony at those pages and the pages surrounding that portion of the record indicate that IQ is not necessarily a function of leadership. That does not in any way prohibit its consideration as one factor. Also, it would appear from this testimony that the witness was saying something totally different about individuals with high IQ's and individuals with low IQ's; that is to say, two individuals with high IQ's may not follow one another based on IQ. But the testimony at 1439 would make it appear that a "dull" individual may follow someone brighter since the brighter individual (albeit not extremely bright) could formulate plans but the retarded individual could not.

If IQ plays <u>no</u> part in personality testing and evaluating, why then did Dr. Merin who was called as an expert witness by the defendant himself, go over the IQ tests that were given to the defendant in such detail? An examination shows many pages dealing with this not only by the defendant's expert witness, Dr. Merin, but also elaborated in detail by the defense attorney at trial. (R. 1418 et seq).

Even if, arguendo, this Honorable Court were to find that Dr. Appenfeldt's rebuttal testimony was improper, the

Appellee will argue that there has been no showing of prejudice by the Appellant since at page 45 of his brief, he does not even suggest how prejudice might arise other than stating that comparisons could be drawn. This, however, was the very purpose for which the defendant at trial began the introduction of evidence concerning his own non-assertive personality.

In the alternate, even if this Honorable Court were to determine that the testimony was irrelevant, an abuse of discretion by the trial judge in its admission, and prejudicial to the defendant, the Appellee will argue that this can be considered nothing more than harmless error since even if this testimony were not admitted, the defense had failed in any way to show that Robinson was, in fact, the individual being led. The facts indicate that he was an active participant. See <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974) regarding the harmless error doctrine. While <u>Sullivan</u> deals with the question of harmless error as concerns guilt, the Appellee believes that it would also be appropriate authority concerning harmless error during the penalty phase.

In short, the argument presented by the Appellant in this issue is based on a misstatement or misinterpretation of what the testimony said and further, there was either inadequate objection or no objection at the appropriate portion of the record.

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